A qualitative analysis of employers' perspectives on the increase of employing autistic individuals at IT companies in Ireland

Karolina Schlagner

Submission of Thesis and Dissertation

National College of Ireland Research Students Declaration Form (Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

Name:	Karolina Schlagner	
Student Number:	20121300	
Degree for which thesis is submitted:	MAHRM	
Title of Thesis: A qualitative analysis of employers' perspectives on the increase of employing autistic individuals at IT companies in Ireland.		
Date:	August 2022	
Material submitted for award		
A. I declare that this work submitt	ed has been composed by myself.	
B. I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.		
C. I agree to my thesis being depo open access repository NORM.	•	
D. I declare that no material conta used in any other submission for		

Table of Contents

Abstract	4
Introduction	4
Literature Review	7
Autism in today's work environment	8
Neurodiversity and its discrimination	9
The power of cognitive diversity	12
Barriers to employment opportunities	13
Practices to support employers to hire more autistic people	15
Research gap	17
Research question	18
Methodology	20
Participants	20
Procedure	21
Data analysis	22
Ethical considerations	24
Analysis and findings	24
Positive approach but not enough knowledge	24
Good understanding of needs and skills essential	26
External experts' help essential	28
Importance of the internal transition process	30
Discussion	32
Limitations	37
Future research	38
Conclusions and Recommendations	39
References:	44
Appendix	55
Interview questions:	55

Abstract

Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) are a growing group of people who face constant barriers in finding successful employment opportunities in IT companies. Understanding the challenges that impact employment and integration into a workplace, is crucial to improve this situation. The perspective of the employer must be examined to understand what factors influence their decision on employing autistic people. The purpose of this study is to take a thematic approach and examine Irish employers via semi-structured interviews. The findings emerged into four themes and a few trends developed while analysing the outcomes. The results showed positive attitudes towards employing people with ASD, however the level of knowledge where to obtain more information and support was very low. Employers expressed that autistic employees' requirements need to be communicated in a clear way, so that the work expectations and the workplace can be adjusted accordingly. The employers identified that third party support services are very important in the process of background check, recruitment and transition of the autistic person into the workplace. The findings of this study contribute to a deeper understanding of employers' needs and how they can better prepare for hiring and employing more people with ASD. The implications of the research can lead to more job opportunities and increased number of placements for autistic people. Higher employment rate within people with ASD will also improve other outcomes, including quality of life of autistic people.

Introduction

"Neurodiversity may be every bit as crucial for the human race as biodiversity is for life in general. Who can say what form of wiring will be best at any given moment?" (Blume, 1998). One of the first mentions of the term 'neurodiversity' appeared in Blume's article from 1998. Even though this way of thinking took a long time to get accepted by society, it is now seen as a natural form of human neurocognitive variation. Neurodiverse groups of people represent more than 10% of the population (CIPD, 2018), and other sources say it might be 15 - 20% of the population (Developmental Dimensions International (DDI), 2021). This group of people

is becoming a significant part of the job applicants, clients and employees. Therefore, companies and employers must start including them in their recruitment strategies and employment processes.

This paper is focused on one of the neurodiverse groups - individuals with autism spectrum disorder (ASD). In 2020 in Ireland there were 5,753 people registered as autistic and 75% of them are under 18 years old (O'Sullivan *et al.*, 2020). This suggests that a large group of people with ASD are entering now or will enter the job market in the next 10 years and employers should prepare their workplaces for these young people. However, the statistics are alarming as only 20% of autistic people are in full employment (O'Sullivan *et al.*, 2020). These numbers are similar worldwide (Cusack, 2021; Office for National Statistics, 2021; Miley, 2019). It is important to mention that the unemployment rate of people with ASD is significantly higher than in any other disability group.

These concerning facts call for deeper research on why the employment of autistic people is so low. The question to be asked is why employers do not include this group of population in their recruitment strategies and what can be done to change this. There has been some research done on the benefits of implementing neurodiversity into a company's culture and on the challenges people with ASD face when working in a neurotypical work environment (Hedley *et al.*, 2021; Spoor, Bury and Hedley, 2021; Diener *et al.*, 2020; Remington and Pellicano, 2019). However, most of them were based on the autistic employees' perspective. It is important to consider other stakeholders and investigate the employers' view and their challenges of successful integration of neurodiverse individuals into a workplace. A better understanding of how employers, Human Resource (HR) departments and other hiring personnel can support employees with ASD is crucial for developing comprehensive solutions to the issues autistic minorities experience.

There are a few studies which have explored this subject area (Moore, McDonald and Bartlett, 2018; Westover, Hughes and Cardon, 2018; Chen *et al.*, 2015; Hendricks, 2010). They concluded that employment opportunities for autistic people are limited because of a centralised recruitment process, not enough suitable roles and too high productivity demands. They have also pointed to lack of awareness and training and need of specially designed programs to help the autistic people to gain and maintain employment (Westover *et al.*, 2018). There are also a couple of main studies, which conducted research on employers to analyse their view on employing ASD workers (Shahid and Zahid, 2021; Albright, Kulok and Scarpa, 2020; Nicholas *et al.*, 2019; Riesen and Morgan, 2018). The research stated that knowledge

and awareness have a significant impact on employers' positive attitude towards recruiting individuals with ASD. Moreover, the employment process needs to be customised and the employment specialists need special training. More research on practical guidance on how to include autistic people during all stages of employment could improve the situation of ASD employees on the labour market (Bowman, 2020).

The literature review chapter presents a deeper overview of what has been researched and written within this theme over the recent years in the literature. It also identifies the research gaps this research intends to fill. The next section justifies the research question and the subquestions and gives reasons why the questions were chosen. In the next chapter, the methodology used to conduct the research is explained. The thematic analysis has been used to analyse data sets of the seven semi structured interviews. The following chapter analyses the data collected from interviewing the participants. The data is coded into four themes: positive approach but not enough knowledge, good match of the skills and needs, external experts help is essential also in internal onboarding process. The last chapter includes a conclusion and recommendations. It also covers the CIPD requirements.

This paper's aim is to get a deeper understanding of employers' perspective on hiring and managing people with ASD. The pioneers in this field are IT companies, therefore the research will be narrowed to technology companies based in Ireland. The aim of the study is to get an overview of the benefits and reservations they might have when hiring people with ASD into their teams. Moreover, the study's goal is to examine what needs and management skills are crucial to successfully integrate neurodiverse employees into the organisations. The study was carried out from a qualitative perspective and is based on the in-depth interview method. It is believed that face to face interviews are best to achieve the aims and collect experiences, needs and challenges employers might face in the workplaces.

The time of the study is very relevant considering that the number of individuals diagnosed with ASD is increasing. Most of them are entering adulthood and will start looking for employment. Therefore, it is crucial for employers to obtain more knowledge on the differences in managing and maintaining people with ASD (Bowman, 2020). Many industries, particularly the IT industry, are starting to experience shortage of workers (Johnson, Ennis-Cole and Bonhamgregory, 2020) and could benefit from the above average talents of the autistic neurodiversity group (Holland, 2016). A common trend of remote work and digitalisation of work relationships can bring a lot of advantages to the ASD population and release the pressure of the social skills needs.

The findings provide meaningful contributions to the topic of creating a more inclusive environment in IT company workplace and increase the hire of autistic people. The value of the study is a better understanding of the challenges employers experience with implementing neurodiversity into their workplaces. The outcomes of the study show what employers needs are and what tools and strategies they need to develop to successfully hire and manage neurodiverse teams. These outcomes and practical advice can be useful for other employers who would like to open themselves more to diversity and inclusion practices in their organisations. The findings could shed light on some guidelines for governments and other bodies who create and implement diversity practices and policies. The study also brings value in terms of better understanding of the employees with ASD and improving their wellbeing at work. Employment is an important aspect of adult life, and a meaningful job is desirable for most people, including individuals with ASD. It impacts other parts of life, from higher social status and better mental health to financial independence, which would be very beneficial for this disability group (Chen *et al.*, 2015).

Literature Review

Since the first publications about neurodiversity in workplaces in the late '90s, few research papers, describing how to support employers to employ more autistic people, have been published. Lopez et al.'s (2021) research shows that the barriers and challenges ASD people face at work have not changed through the years. They are mostly related to low awareness of their special needs among managers and colleagues (Stedman, 2021). The findings from the studies point to the crucial role of education and training for future managers and for existing staff members. It has been proved that most impact have HR departments and they should be the leaders in implementing neurodiversity at workplaces. Existing stigma and discrimination lead to high unemployment within this population. Autistic people bring a lot of benefits and much needed diversity into a workplace. A lot of barriers in employment of autistic people come from the lack of policies including diversity and misconception of costs of employing autistic people. The main thing to be changed to enable to hire more autistic people is the way the recruitment process is formed. Moreover, it is recommended that the employers start collaborating with colleges to organise placements and hire external employment support companies. There are a few main outcomes that the studies suggest should be implemented to encourage employers to employ more autistic people. Job matching, awareness training and

information campaigns are one of the most important aspects, as well as trying to give a chance to the autistic people and include them in the workplaces, as well as in the society.

The first part of the literature review called 'Autism in today's work environment' describes the positive and negative aspects of including autistic people at work. It also looks at the role of HR managers and the fact that it is easier to implement the changes in bigger companies. The next part 'Neurodiversity and its discrimination' describes positive autism and treating it in a social way. Despite some legal acts to protect autistic people the discrimination and stigma around employing people with disabilities still exists. The unemployment rate among autistic people is very high, as well as the costs of excluding this group of people from the work society. The next chapter is called 'The power of cognitive diversity' and it collaborates on the benefits autistic people bring to a workplace and how this group of people can't be ignored by the employers. The following chapter 'Barriers to employment opportunities' explores challenges the autistic people face when applying for a job and transitioning into a workplace. The main barriers are related to social skills challenges, lack of autism awareness and poor workplace adjustments. The second last section of the literature review is entitled 'Practices to support employers to hire more autistic people' and it concentrates on the strategies different studies researched to help to encourage employers to employ more autistic people. The last section is called 'Research gap' and it describes the areas where more research should be conducted.

Autism in today's work environment

According to Whelpley and Perrault's (2020) recent study, we can see an increase of awareness of ASD issues across management literature in recent years. The authors point out that a lot of research and popular press led to a confusing view that integration of autistic individuals can be very difficult and hard both for employers and employees (Whelpley and Perrault, 2020). While contributing to encouraging more research in this subject of how to give managers skills to integrate autistic individuals in the workplace, the research concentrates too much on the increase of company's performance and strategic advantage. This study contradicts this research, which one of the main findings is how important is training for managers to improve their skills in managing and integrating autistic people.

Negative results can be found in a study by Remington and Pellicano (2018), where interviewed interns said the experience of a workplace brought a lot of anxiety, difficulties in communication and office rules confusion. These outcomes are an important source of

knowledge for the employers and employment support companies on how to work with future employers who aim to hire autistic people.

Another approach by Johnson *et al.* (2020) explores different strategies to develop a collaborative approach of a company, so it has more impact on the successful employment of autistic people. According to their research it is the human resource managers who should care about the skill development and work environment to support people with ASD in a workplace (Jonson *et al.*, 2020). Similar practical implications are suggested in a study by Szulc, McGregor and Cakir (2021) who state that very few HR professionals included neurodiversity in their practices. Only 10% of HR departments try to create an accessible and friendly neurodiversity environment (CIPD, 2019). This is very significant evidence showing that the issue of implementing neurodiversity into HR practices is in a very early stage. It is also quite shocking that HR departments don't take on the leading role in implementing the changes in mentalities and approaches of the companies and their teams.

There is still a significant lack of empirical data on support for potential employers of people with ASD (Whelpley and Perrault, 2020). Usually only some large companies can present cases on how neurodiversity can create a more inclusive work environment and lead to more successful performance. Austin and Pisano's (2017) article shows how neurodiversity can work to a company's competitive advantage. They give an overview on how different corporations changed their HR processes and introduced programs to include neurodiverse talent in their recruitment process (Austin and Pisano, 2017). Research has found that the process can be more difficult in small and medium companies, due to less possibilities to accommodate the needs of disabled employees (e.g., smaller offices), fear of higher costs of accommodation or challenges with changing the performance management and supervisors and co-workers' attitudes towards employees with disabilities (Sundar, 2017).

Neurodiversity and its discrimination

The knowledge about neurodiversity that has been gained over the last few years shows that human brains are different, and people can have different reactions when experiencing the world around them. The neurodiverse group of people is growing and is becoming a significant part of the population (Booth, 2016). This led to changing the perceptions towards disability and understanding it more from a social point of view, and not medical, as something caused by the way our societies are built. A comprehensive study has been done on positive autism and the way it leads to focus on strengths when employing autistic people (Wong *et al.*, 2018).

Their study follows Drucker's (199) and Cliffton and Harter's (2003) argument that sees autistic challenges as personal differences and not deficits (Wong *et al.*, 2018). The social way of looking at disability helps to discover the barriers people with disabilities face and find solutions to remove the barriers (Haegele and Hodge, 2016). Despite the different ways of thinking about disabilities, there is still discrimination, especially in a work context. According to Eurobarometer (2019), disability was reason number three of discrimination in workplace in the EU and in Ireland. A positive insight is that 93% of Irish people said they would feel comfortable working with a disabled person, which is a very high number compared to the lowest outcome, which was 60% (Eurobarometer, 2019).

To prevent discrimination in the workplace, several legal acts have been implemented into Irish law, the Equal Status Acts (2000-2015) and the Employment Equality Acts 1998-2015 (EEAs). Despite this, the work situation of neurodiverse people did not improve. According to Baska (2019), equality rights are not being enforced and a lot of cases must be filed before compliance with the Equality Act is respected. Another aspect of discrimination is unconscious discrimination and bias that can start at the recruitment stage and leave the employees unaware of it (Faragher, 2017). This aspect is interesting in the context of this research, as it impacts the employers when they employ autistic people and don't know about their condition. In this case no special amendments or management rules applied to these employees and it affects the performance and productivity of this group of people, which could be better if required changes could be made.

Almost four in five autistic individuals have difficulties finding employment (AsIAm and IrishJobs.ie, 2021). This neurodiverse condition causes social communication problems and makes interactions with other people difficult. People with ASD can be sensitive to bright lights, noises and general changes in their environment (CIPD, 2018). According to many articles, there is still a stigma of employing individuals with ASD and this might be one of the reasons why the employment rate of this group is around 10% and is the lowest among all the neurodiversity groups (Bird and Flint, 2019; European Economic and Social Committee, 2017). The stigma can come from little awareness of the disability and misinformation gained from popular films and books rather than research and academic sources (Sparrow, 2018). A similar outcome by Lindsay *et al.* (2019), which future research could look into, found that the lack of experience in working with people with disabilities, stigma and discrimination are caused by disability discomfort.

Hensel (2017, p. 75), an expert on employment discrimination, states that "In the next eight years alone, experts predict a 230% increase in the number of young people with ASD transitioning to adulthood". Hensel also explains that the employment services and opportunities must follow the educational services. Young people nowadays get a lot of assistance and support during their education years and then they reach the next step, which is employment and a huge gap in terms of the support.

According to Knapp, Romeo and Beecham (2009) the costs of not employing autistic people are reaching over £9 billion per year in the United Kingdom and according to Buescher *et al.* (2014) \$23.5 billion per year in the United States. For an autistic individual, however, the consequences of not being employed are often worse. Employment gives a sense of purpose, belonging and independence, which gives hope and dignity and is very important for the autistic population and their integration with the society (Herr, 2001). A study on social inclusion and supported employment of disability people at work has been conducted in Sweden by Gustafsson, Peralta and Danermark (2018). The two themes that stand out from their results were the importance of a sense of social belonging and being valued as a worker. Gustafsson *et al.* (2018) found that social inclusion can be increased by job-matching and by encouraging natural support with reasonable working conditions and relationships at the workplace.

Colleges should provide diversity courses to make the future managers and team leaders aware of the challenges of autistic people with employment and remove the stigma related to their employment (Hidegh and Csillag, 2013). Anderson, Butt and Sarsony (2021) present research about the meaning of pre-employment opportunities, the role families should have in employment and the need for coordination of schools, agencies and employers to reduce the challenges of job search for autistic people. External support via employment support services and vocational training, were also among the strategies to facilitate successful employment of people with ASD in a study by Dreaver *et al.* (2020). Hedley *et al.* (2017) also states that a meaningful collaboration between families, schools, community resources and workplace capacity buildings is crucial for successful employment outcomes of autistic people. These are significant findings in the context of this study. The external employment support turned out to be one of the main elements the employers find crucial to start recruiting and employing autistic people. Ongoing support of companies providing such a service encourages employers to offer long term placements and helps autistic employees to keep the job.

The power of cognitive diversity

"Who can say what form of wiring will prove best at any given moment? Cybernetics and computer culture, for example, may favor a somewhat autistic cast of mind" (Blume, 1998). Different perspectives and thinking 'outside the box', which inspires creativity and lateral thinking, can be the biggest benefit people with ASD can bring to a workplace (Brinzea, 2019). According to Patton (2019), employees with ASD are hardworking, detail – oriented and are very honest and loyal and they do not mind repetitive work and can often specialise in very narrow niche topics. Moreover, the inclusion of neurodiverse employees can increase productivity and quality at work, as well as motivate and integrate teams. Although some critical views on autism claim that it is rather a difference than a disability or that the autistic people with more needs (described as 'low functioning') should not be included in the neurodiversity movement. However, the autism researcher den Houting (2019) says this criticism comes from misconceptions and misinformation and they limit the opportunities of autistic people.

In a study by Morris, Begel and Wiedermann (2015), participants with ASD said that despite many challenges, they also feel they have a lot of strengths. Some of the advantages they mentioned were the ability to notice patterns or focus for a long period of time and Morris *et al.*'s (2015) study suggests a lot of people with ASD find technology interesting. Technology companies battle to attract new talent and the big IT companies have already implemented programs supporting hiring autistic people. Matching ASD people to jobs, where they can use their skills and interests, is an important social trend. This also suggests that the benefits can be mutual. However, it is important not to link ASD people only with IT skills as it can lead to a limiting general understanding (Cook, 2020).

Companies need to start considering individuals with ASD in the workplace, as they soon will not be able to omit this group of people in the recruitment process and employment. As the consumers and the consumer markets become more universal and diverse, so should the diversity of employment. This would improve the diversity of products to suit the new group of customers. Westover *et al.* (2018, p.11) state in their study "There is a dire need for individuals on the autism spectrum to be employed, not only for their sake, but for the sake of successful and competitive business around the world". They have also concluded that the literature supports that individuals with ASD bring a heightened set of skills and talents to the

workplace and hence can be a valuable asset to the company's competitive edge (Westover *et al.*, 2018). Another study, conducted in Australia, stresses huge benefits of employing a person with ASD than without (Scott *et al.*, 2017) and they state that some of the benefits include higher productivity, better attention to detail and an ethical approach. It also diversifies the workplace and has a potential impact on increasing the competitive edge of the company.

Barriers to employment opportunities

The challenges of neurodiversity at the workplace have been a subject of a lot of studies in recent years (Bross *et al.*, 2021; Albright *et al.*, 2020; Baker *et al.*, 2018; Morris *et al.*, 2015; Hendricks, 2010). Most of the findings concentrate on three main barriers: social challenges of interactions with other people, the lack of autism awareness among other employees and poor adjustments of the physical environment. Among the consequences of social challenges were negative feelings and perceptions and challenging relationships with colleagues (Bury *et al.*, 2021). Some of the recent studies point to the pre-employment challenges and the difficulty of the young adults' transition process from schools to workplaces (Bross *et al.*, 2021). The other barriers include disconnect between interests and job tasks and little job support (Bross *et al.*, 2021). The recruitment process barrier is related to the job matching problem, according to Moore *et al.* (2018). There is a lack of research exploring how organisations should offer continuous employment opportunities for people with intellectual disabilities. Today the opportunities are limited because the recruitment process is centralised, not enough suitable positions are offered and the productivity demands are too high (Moore, *et al.*, 2018).

The challenges with adjusting the workplace to meet the needs of ASD people are detailed in the DARE report on adjustments (Heasman *et al.*, 2020). The report identifies two knowledge gaps which include ASD employees do not know if they can ask for amendments, or how to, and employers do not know how to implement the changes (Heasman *et al.*, 2020). This suggests a general lack of knowledge, communication and procedures. Similar outcome came up in a study on barriers done by Baker *et al.* (2018). Among their observations was the lack of cooperation between employers and colleges and universities campuses on hiring students with disabilities and including this relationship in the recruitment policies. Another barrier was lack of experience and knowledge on how to treat autistic people in the office in day-to-day situations among team leaders (Baker *et al.*, 2018).

Those barriers can come from the fact that disabilities, including intellectual disabilities, are often not an integrated part of diversity policies, practices and corporate social responsibility

strategies. This results in low recognition of different needs of this group of employees. However, there is a high demand to include disabilities in the company's culture, inclusive practices and workplace policies (Gould, et al., 2020). Research by Phillips et al. (2019) disagrees with this statement, and it introduces companies that successfully use practices to overcome barriers to hire and retain disabled people. Their findings show that companies with successful practices around people with disabilities, and they also highlight that the management commitment to accommodate employees with disabilities is important (Philips et al., 2019). Their research conclusion says the information about effective workplace practices will back up future policies and programs to train employers, as they want to increase employment with people with disabilities (Philips et al., 2019).

Griffiths *et al.* (2019) concludes that company policies and practices and their quality, were the indications on which companies would be successful at employing individuals with ASD. On the other hand, other researchers' results showed that a very low percentage of participants mentioned policy changes as a factor, which improves accommodation (Sundar, 2017).

One of the challenges described in older research is the unknown of any extra costs when hiring an autistic person. There is also little knowledge of the costs of accommodation of such employees, and this might work to the person's disadvantage. Schartz, Schartz and Blanck's (2002) study on employment of people with disabilities in IT companies, stated that lack of experience is leading to concerns about the costs of hiring and retaining these employees. According to Kocman, Fischer and Weber (2018), extra costs related to employment of autistic people were at the top of the list of barriers for people with disabilities. They indicated that to impact higher employment of people with disabilities, is it important to take the employer's reservations seriously. This might be a problem especially for small and medium companies, who are afraid of the additional costs to accommodate the needs of autistic employees (Sundar, 2017). However, findings of two more recent studies show that the costs of hiring an autistic person are none or very little. According to Scott et al. (2017), there are no additional costs when hiring an adult with ASD related to workplace modifications, additional supervision or training. The costs have been confirmed not to go over the standard costs of a new employee. A study by Szulc et al. (2021) demonstrates that the solutions to change the work environment to accommodate a sensory sensitive person, can also be done without significant costs.

Employment barriers for people with ASD in Irish society were examined in a study by Li (2019). The main outcomes of their study were that most of the barriers are caused by wrong job match and not meeting autistic employees' needs (Li, 2019). The barriers that the research

described were related to sensory sensitivity and the efforts individuals with ASD have to put towards social interactions. Another outcome was described as a misconception of autism created by Irish mainstream media (Li, 2019). The paper suggests that the lack of knowledge is also found among HR managers, which affects the office infrastructure and the main source of support for neurodiverse employees. The participants of the study said that the policies issued by their employers were far from the reality of the office and the mental and physical capabilities of the autistic people (Li, 2019). According to Patton (2019), the barriers can also come from traditional HR practices and definitions (e.g., good employee). ASD employees, who often can seem rude, arrogant or have a loose temper can be negatively judged and have difficulties being liked and accepted in their teams. This suggests that the traditional performance reviews structures and reward systems can be seen as barriers and need rethinking. Individuals with ASD are becoming a growing part of the population and they still face discrimination and barriers in the workplace on many levels (Banks et al., 2018). Those individuals are usually highly intelligent and able to provide excellent work. Unfortunately, even for people with very mild dysfunctions the barriers existing in the work environment prevent them from getting and retaining a full-time job and lead to an estimated unemployment rate of 80 percent (National Autistic Society, 2021; Patton, 2019).

Practices to support employers to hire more autistic people

Adam Harris, Chief Executive of AsIAm, Ireland's National Autism Charity, said "We need to work together to educate companies on the huge contribution autistic people can make to the workforce and on the valuable contribution they can make to the economy" (Stedman, 2021). Therefore, several guides have been published by autism charities to support employers in the inclusion of ASD individuals in the workplace including the National Disability Authority (2022) 'Assisting people with autism. Guidance for Line Managers and HR Professionals' and the National Autistic Society (2022) 'Employing autistic people – a guide for employers'.

However, those initiatives do not improve the situation of adults with ASD at work and seem to be detached from reality (Li, 2019). According to Patton's (2019) study, real integration should be a concern of all members of a company and is possible through a deep understanding of unique differences and creating a general feeling of belonging. Similar results were obtained in a study by Seitz and Smith (2016). Their findings were divided into five themes around compassion and understanding of employees' needs, flexibility of management rules, leaders'

willingness to work with autistic people and direct communication with clear instructions and finally emotional and instrumental support (Seitz and Smith, 2016). Comparable findings were presented by Li (2019), where a support plan tailored to each employee and regular communication between all groups of employees and supervisors were the two main support practices identified.

When discussing communication in a diverse workplace, it is important to address needs of both sides and ways to accommodate them. Accommodation in a workplace was the main outcome that was found in a study on supporting vocational opportunities for adults with developmental disabilities by Rashid, Thompson-Hodgetts and Nicholas (2018). Work accommodations are very helpful with creating equal employment opportunities. A study on workplace accommodation and invisible disabilities has been carried out by Prince (2017). Invisible disabilities are disabilities which might not be immediately obvious to other people. Prince's (2017) study sheds light on the issue of disclosing the disability to the employer and its consequences. It concludes that effective management is more important than exceptions. On the contrary, this study comes to a different conclusion and the findings say both managing and exceptions are equally important to successfully accommodate the needs of invisible disability workers. A recent study by Romualdez, Walker and Remington (2021) on experiences of disclosure also studies factors associated with the outcomes. The three main factors were: understanding of autism, willingness to make changes and organisational culture. These outcomes are significant as they align with this study, which also points out to the awareness and understanding of autism, the ability to make changes in the companies' policies and open culture of the company, which can accept neurodiversity.

According to the most relevant and recent studies on the employer's perspectives on how to encourage employment of autistic people, there are a few themes that stand out including lack of awareness and knowledge about people with ASD and the importance of job matching and employment services. A couple of studies conducted on the need of awareness training and information campaigns that should be provided by employment services and external consultants (Diener *et al.*, 2020; Kocman *et al.*, 2017). These studies align with the outcomes of this study, where the lack of knowledge came out as one of the main objectives and barriers to employ autistic people.

The hiring process to accommodate the needs of autistic people needs a lot of improvement. Employers are not certain about the applicants' abilities to take on a job and the employment service system is very complex according to Henry *et al.* (2014). The applicants' skills need to

match the company's expectations and goals of a workplace (Diener *et al.*, 2020). For the employment of autistic people to be successful, employment specialists need special training to help to customise the process (Riesen and Morgan, 2018; Smith *at al.*, 2004). Job matching of the autistic people's interests and skills and the skills needed at the workplace is essential (Dreaver *et al.*, 2020; Nicholas *et al.*, 2019). Also, findings by Smith *et al.* (2004) show that a good job match results in employer's satisfaction, good performance reviews and a will on hiring more people with disabilities. Riesen and Morgan (2018) take a closer look at the employer perceptions of the customised employment process, its barriers and facilitators. Their outcomes highlight the importance of experienced employment specialists and their help with customising jobs for intellectually disabled individuals. Meaningful research on adapting interview questions to improve performance of autistic participants found that it has a great impact on the results of the interviews (Maras *et al.*, 2021). In their research Maras *et al.* (2021) found out that using the special interview questions gave better interview results also around non – autistic applicants. This would suggest the new recruitment standards can be unify for all neurodiverse and neurotypical people.

Some companies have been taking part in special employment programs to support neurodiversity. Hedley *et al.* (2021) conducted a study from the employees' perspective on such a program in Australia. The feedback was supportive, and the strengths of the programs could be seen in positive change of HR practices and introduction of personalised support for the ASD employees (Hedley *et al.*, 2021). A different study on the employment programs concluded that employers need more support with individually designed adjustments for their autistic employees (Lopez *et al.*, 2021). In this study the employers agreed that the program gave them more awareness of autism and support to hire autistic employees (Lopez *et al.*, 2021). This is also the main conclusion of the work of Nicholas *et al.* (2019), that experience with working directly with people with ASD has a very positive impact on their awareness and engagement and it increases hiring activity.

Most of the recent research aligns with the previous ones and addresses that employers' understanding and knowledge of ASD is crucial to facilitate their employment. Job matching, external expert support and holistic approach which takes into consideration the needs of employers, not only autistic individuals, are the major contributions to the new practices to support employment of people with autism (Dreaver, *et al.*, 2020).

Research gap

In the light of the above more research is needed on what employers need, to adapt neurodiversity in their workplaces and how they can be encouraged to hire more autistic people. A lot of potential has future research on how to gain competitive advantages from successfully integrated people with ASD (Markel and Elia, 2016). Nicholas *et al.* (2019) and Riesen and Morgan (2018) also address that limited research has been done on employer experiences and views on hiring, supporting and managing autistic people. More data is needed to gain better knowledge on employer's views and guide them how to better include and support people with ASD in a workplace. According to Griffiths *et al.* (2019) a lot of potential for future research lies in best practices supporting employing people with ASD, and on how employers can practically use those concepts and ideas in their organisations. According to Bowman (2020, p.1), there is also a lack of data on "specific organizational leadership behaviours, leadership training needs and organisational culture elements that mediate positive employment outcomes for individuals with ASD [...]".

Bowman's (2020) research as well as a significant amount of the research mentioned, were conducted in the USA (Anderson *et al.*, 2021; Whelpley and Perrault, 2020; Hensel, 2017). There is a significant gap in research on the challenges Irish employers experience with neurodiversity (Tracey, 2020; Li, 2019). These studies were done as a college thesis and the samples were very small. Also, the study by Lindsay *et al.* (2019) points out an important gap in the literature on getting a better understanding of the concept of disability from the employer's perspective who hires these people.

The research carried out in this study aims to gain a broader perspective on the reason why Irish IT companies do not hire more autistic people and what would they need to start integrating this population into their talent pool and then into their workplaces. For the purpose of this study, the focus is on tech companies, as their work environment and type of work has proven to work well for autistic people (Keogh, 2017). There is a lack of research, which would concentrate specifically on this sector. The shortage of people with disabilities working for IT brands has been already noted by Schartz *et al.* (2002). The question appeared in relation to the high demand for qualified IT workers in IT and not IT industries.

Research question

The main research aim of this study is to explore the perspectives of Irish tech companies' employers on the employment of autistic people. The study's objective is to find out what

information, training or skills could they use to make their recruitment process and workplace a safe place to accommodate this group of employees.

The aim of this study is to identify strategies that would open companies for continuous employment of autistic adults. This study aims to explore the perspectives of technology sector employers to examine what are their reservations and limitations when employing people with ASD. This study aims to explore the changes the employers would need to implement in their workplaces to make them more welcoming for autistic people.

Therefore, the paper concentrates on the following research question:

What support companies need, according to employers, to become a more welcoming work environment for autistic people?

The research aims to answer some inter-related questions:

What practices and tools businesses need to successfully hire and transition an autistic employee into a workplace?

What knowledge and training managers and employees need in order to successfully manage and work with people with autism?

What kind of skills would employees need to begin a career in the IT field?

These questions start a discussion on how the employers feel about neurodiversity inclusion in their workplaces and what are their biggest reservations and hopes.

The objective is to find out what requirements would be critical when designing new practices and policies supporting neurodiverse culture. The practices should relate to hiring and to managing people with ASD through all the stages of the employment cycle. The management should help with social challenges of employing neurodiverse employees and be able to give sufficient guidance to their teams. To be able to accommodate those changes, employers and team leaders need to have specific skill sets, among which emotional intelligence is the strongest one (Bowman, 2020). Therefore, the aim of the study was to challenge hiring personnel to come up with their own solutions on inclusion and making neurodivergent thinking a business transformation process. Workplaces need neurodiversity friendly policies and practices, and the implementation should be mainstream. The changes needed most are around recruitment, increasing awareness of neurodiversity and the communication challenges between the neurodiverse and neurotypical groups. Last but not least, are the physical workplace adjustments which are very important for long term employment of autistic people.

The study has been narrowed to Irish IT companies, as the IT sector is a pioneer on the market in hiring autistic people. This is due to a specific type of work and environment which matches the skills, interests and personalities of people with ASD. Neurodiversity can be a big opportunity for technology employers in Ireland to increase their innovations and win the war of talent in the technology sector (Keogh, 2017).

The findings of the questions should bring important additions to the research literature on autism in Ireland. The research aimed to bring insights on hiring personnel's view of employing autistic people in Ireland and it sheds light to what issues they struggle with. This understanding should provide a new perspective on how to support employers and help them be more open to employ individuals with ASD. It is hoped this knowledge and findings of this research will help to reduce the high unemployment rate within this population. Giving a chance and employing autistic people will give them a feeling of belonging in the society and will also improve their wellbeing and morale (Chen, *et al.* 2015).

Methodology

The main articles studied and examined within this subject conducted qualitative research with semi-structured interviews to collect their data (Bross *et al.*, 2021; Szulc, *et al.*, 2021; Albright *et al.*, 2020; Lindsay *et al.*, 2019; Gustafsson *et al.* 2018; Moore *et al.*, 2018). The methods used by those studies resulted in honest and valuable content and it was based on participants' real life experience. Therefore, this research uses a qualitative approach, focused on in-depth, semi-structured interviews with people who are involved in the hiring process in IT companies in Ireland. In addition, most of the studies mentioned above used thematic analysis to interpret the data and identify main themes and fundings. For this study, a similar approach is used by following Braun and Clarke's (2006) thematic analysis framework.

Participants

A total of seven participants attended the interviews. The participants ranged from 38 - 56 years old, they were four male and three female. Six of the people identified as White and one as Black. Five of those people were hiring managers, two were Heads of Human Resources and one was the CEO of the company. The majority of the participants represented small and medium businesses, Irish tech businesses, with less than 150 employees, and two participants

represented a large company (over 250 employees). One interview was conducted in person in the participant's workplace, one was through email and the rest of the interviews were via video calls on MS Teams software and lasted, on average, 20 minutes (shortest 16min, longest 25min).

Inclusion criteria for participating consisted of employer, manager or team leader with experience in recruitment and employment process. The participants would have been involved in some stage of the hiring process, but some of them would not be exclusively responsible for decisions. Some participants would make the hiring decisions for the business on their own and some would be involved in reviewing the applications and the interview process. As long as the responder confirmed they were part of the recruitment process they were included in the study. Two respondents shared information that they had previously hired, trained and worked with an autistic employee. However, there was no requirement for the companies to have any experience or knowledge of employing ASD people. One participant shared they have some knowledge about autism from personal experience as his child is autistic.

The researcher has an established relationship with one participant. Further recruitment strategy was direct contact with the companies based in the same Innovative Campus, as the researcher's employer. The information about the research project and interview call was distributed by the internal email to 15 businesses, however none of the companies replied to participate. Further participants were recruited through personal contacts of the researcher and some of the participants.

Procedure

To get the most insights and information from the participants the research involved an interview. The interviews were arranged to be face-to-face or over a video call and the choice was left with the participant. Prior to interviews all participants were provided with detailed information about the study and a consent form, which they were asked to sign and email back. Once consent was received the researcher and the participant agreed on the form a date and time of the interview. The interviews were carried over a period of three weeks. One person preferred to give their answers in writing and sent them over email.

The study takes an exploratory approach and tries to find new insights and understandings for the subject in questions. An inductive approach was chosen for constructing the research questions. Each of the participants answered questions related to their reservations, opinions and needs and skills they think are crucial to best manage and maintain neurodiverse employees. A semi – structured interview as the main research instrument, and it was used to assess the employer's perspective and it was constructed based on a previous study by Albright *et al.* (2020). The questions were designed to find out the reservations of the hiring managers and what skills are crucial to better integrate autistic people into a tech company. The questions lead to conversation towards some practical solutions and ideas on what tools would the employers need to help them to maintain the autistic people in the workplace and successfully integrate them with their teams. The interviews were semi-structured to allow for some additional probing of subjects which were particularly captivating to the participant. A flexible approach to the conversation helped to build a rapport with the participants.

The research instrument consisted of nine questions (see Appendix A). The interview started with two questions about the benefits and concerns of employing people with ASD. The next two questions asked about any information and training which would be helpful when hiring and transitioning autistic employees into a workplace. Then cooperation with employment support providers was discussed. The following two questions were about short-term and long-term support with transition of an employee with ASD. The last two questions covered issues of practical and social skills the employees need to work for the interviewed person and their company. This interview schedule was used to keep the consistency however, participants were encouraged to discuss a theme they could relate to, or that they found particularly interesting. Each of the interviews was audio recorded using a phone application and additional observation notes were taken.

Data analysis

Analysing data identifies and reports patterns with a data set. Thematic analysis allows for a flexible and comprehensive analysis across the data. It aims to find important and engaging themes and patterns within the collected data (Maguire and Delahunt, 2017). Albright *et al.* (2020) examined their data on thirteen interviews with hiring personnel using a data driven thematic approach. Shahid and Zahid (2021) conducted interviews with eleven HR managers and used thematic analysis as well, following Braun and Clarke's (2006) guidelines to analyse the data. The same approach of thematic analysis was chosen for the purpose of this study. The thematic analysis was used to obtain the most realistic and based on experiences outcomes. The outcomes cannot be used as a general view, but they give an in-depth, informative insight and knowledge of the researched subject.

The study followed the six steps framework for conducting a thematic analysis by Braun and Clarke (2006). The data was analysed by relistening to the recordings. An inductive approach was used to interpret the data, which means the form of this analysis is data driven. The immersion in the data has been done through relistening to it with a purpose of finding patterns and meanings. During this phase the researcher took notes and initial ideas of the coding, however coding was defined continuously till the end of the analysis process (Braun and Clarke, 2006). This thematic approach means that participants' replies were coded based on what they said and not on key ideas. This reflects a pattern occurring in the recorded data (Maguire and Delahunt, 2017). The coding was performed manually using a Microsoft Excel sheet. The data was approached to code particularly compelling features of the interviews. The researcher was coding the data with specific research questions in mind. The coding template was revised and improved with a final version of the template used for the dataset interpretation (O'Connor, C. and Joffe, H., 2020). The data of the study refer to audio recordings together with notes on observations made by the researcher while conducting the interviews.

This step was followed by looking for themes and trying to sort and group the long list of codes into a few themes, which would present the most valuable findings (Maguire and Delahunt, 2017). A few different ideas for themes were identified and they were arranged into a mindmap. Some sub-themes were identified, and some themes were grouped in an extra data pool. In the fourth phase all the themes were reviewed to see if there was enough data to support them. Some themes were grouped together because they covered similar data set. The sub-themes were eliminated and merged into different themes. At this point the themes were also analysed in relation to the whole data set and some additional data, which has not been coded before, has been added to the existing themes to present a whole picture of the data set.

The following phase helped to redefine some of the themes to really bring out the essence of the subject of each theme. It is important to check if there is no repetition in the themes and if they relate to the whole picture of the study and the research questions. At this point names were given to the four identified themes of the research. According to Braun and Clarke (2006), the final step is to produce a report that tells the story of the data and gives a full interpretation of the findings.

Some participants were more outspoken than the others during the interview, some content themes do not include all participants' insights. However, many of the content themes include most of the participants.

Ethical considerations

The research was conducted with the permission of all participants. There are no ethical considerations arising as a result of the research. The data collected during the research was treated confidentially. The anonymity of the people who were interviewed is protected and no names of the participants or of their companies were used in the paper. Their anonymity will be protected in any future published work as well. An interview consent form was signed by all the participants, and they were informed they could stop the interview at any time they might feel uncomfortable. The results of the research come from a detailed analysis of the collected materials. The replies to the interview questions were not taken out of context and any other observations were discussed in the appropriate context as well.

Analysis and findings

The main goal of the study was to understand the perspective of an IT company on employing more autistic people. The research questions were formed to find out what support companies need to be able to successfully hire, accommodate and manage more autistic people. Four themes clearly appeared from the qualitative analysis of the research data set collected while interviewing IT company's hiring personnel:

- 1. Positive approach but not enough knowledge
- 2. Good understanding of needs and skills essential
- 3. External experts' help essential
- 4. Importance of the internal transition process

Positive approach but not enough knowledge

The first theme represents a very positive attitude toward employing autistic people and how the hiring personnel feel they would benefit the company. It also brings out the lack of knowledge of the condition. Most of the employers were not aware of the opportunities of how to hire autistic staff and where to look for additional information and support.

All the participants were speaking positively about the possibility of hiring and working with autistic people. Most of the participants said they can see benefits of employing autistic people in their companies and pointed to diversity and inclusivity in the workplace as the main positive aspects. Some participants have experience with working with disabled people and in their opinion, they were very smart, detailed, focused, and brought a lot of skill sets into the company. These participants referred to employing autistic people as something that needs to be normal.

Participant 2: 'I worked with somebody who was on a spectrum and she definitely brought a lot of assets to the company. She was very smart and very focused. Later she moved to IT team and they only had positive stuff to say about her'

Participant 5: 'I worked with two people who were autistic, and it worked really well. [...] the more staff we can add in, the more experienced and normal it will be. It needs to be just normalised because that's what it is, it's normal.'

Previous study by Stedman (2021) talks as well about the huge contribution and benefits of employing autistic people.

Two participants indicated that it is important to give chance and a sense of normality to the autistic people by giving them employment. It also brings tolerance into the office space.

Participant 1: 'First of all you are giving them an opportunity, it's really difficult for them to find opportunities. So, somebody has to give them that first step [...] and then also it brings a little bit of normality into their life [...] it is helpful on the tolerance level.'

Two participants mentioned that employing an intellectually disabled individual could be a 'good story' to tell their employees and other companies and use it to promote hiring more people with ASD. The story could demonstrate that it works well and has a positive impact on the organisation. In relation to this, one participant said that the public needs to be aware of companies who will employ disabled people only to achieve corporate social responsibility (CSR) compliance requirements. The danger is that they will not have necessary knowledge of this group of people and will not be prepared to give them special assistance and time they need to implement into the office environment.

Participant 1: 'many organisations will be doing it for CSR credits and tick box exercise, because people just want to say they are being diverse, but these are people's lives, and when you bring someone with autism to the environment and it would be the worst thing for the

individual [...] people might be willing to take credit but not the social responsibility to truly do it.'

Lack of knowledge was communicated by some of the participants, particularly by those who never worked with autistic people. They expressed interest but said they have no idea how to approach this issue, where to look for information, and how to get support when hiring or managing an autistic individual.

Participant 3: 'Again, I don't know. It's not a subject I would be familiar with.'

Participant 6: 'I never thought about it, about hiring an autistic person. [...] because to tell you the truth we don't know what challenges we could face, so autism it's a bit of a black box for me, I don't have experience, I would need to know what challenges I could face, but also some access to information, on how I can support them, what that condition really is. At this moment I wouldn't even consider a person with autism because I don't know how to support them and what is the difference between a person with autism and a person without it.'

One participant, who was working with autistic people and knows the realities, shared that they think the labour market is definitely not ready for the autistic people who are trying to find work. This suggests a broad information campaign should be planned and organised by the Irish government or by non-government organisations to educate employers about the benefits and possibilities of employing autistic people. Those findings align with the recent research by Mothersill *et al.* (2021), who also speak about the misinformation and not enough knowledge around companies and other organisations. Lack of knowledge and stigma around disabled people could be the main reason why the unemployment rate among this group in Ireland is so high.

Good understanding of needs and skills essential

The second theme discusses information the participants would need to hire and transition someone with ASD into a workplace and how important it is to match their skills with the position. It also mentions the recent changes in the office environment of many companies, which could positively impact the autistic population.

All the participants expressed how important it would be to be aware of the level of disability and needs of the potential employee with autism before the hiring process. According to many of the participants, this is essential to support the employee and to fulfil their requirements and make the transition into a workplace successful.

Participant 1: 'it's really important to understand what that person's disability is and what you need to do to support that or to prevent the issue arising. [...] it's really unfair to bring anybody in unless you put that time in to understand the medical perspective and that you are very aware of exactly what business needs to do to help them. You need this to be successful for everybody.'

Participant 3: 'it would be good to know what their needs might be just so we can understand it and prepare for it. So, whatever they are we can accommodate them and work around them, like we try to do it for all our employees'

Participant 4: 'to know how it affects them is what we need, when I hire someone I want to make sure they are comfortable here and that we can work away from them, if there is anything in the workplace that would be difficult for them we should know about it so we can work around it.'

Participant 7: 'Some basic awareness training on ASD...environmental sensitivities, break frequencies and other needs. Awareness of these needs at an early stage can help any potential issues arising down the line.'.

The employers seek information about individual characteristics of the potential autistic employees and of any workplace accommodations that would make the employee feel good and comfortable as well. Moreover, some participants expressed opinions that finding out their skill sets and matching them with a job description is an essential element for employment to be successful. One participant stressed that while hiring an individual with ASD they would need to know where they fit in the company. Another interviewee described that for a long-term placement it might be beneficial to move an employee within the company's departments to test their skills and check where they would feel most comfortable. Another participant, a Head of HR said:

Participant 1: 'Everyone with autism working in an office needs to bring a skill with them, and it doesn't matter how basic it is. [...] Jane arrived with a skill she could then relate to people and so she joined the group of programmers. [...] You need to understand what that person's skill set is and they need comfort in themselves that they know what they are doing.'

A compelling aspect in this theme is the perspective of social skills. Most of the participants said that there are a lot of people working in their IT companies who have very low social skills. One participant mentioned that there is no need for social skills anymore. Another employer shared: 'I prefer to keep the small talk with my colleagues to a minimum.' To

illustrate, another participant, the Head of HR said: 'The social skills are missing with most people with autism, and so you just accept that. [...] When somebody joins your business, you need to explain what your business culture is more so than the skills. [...] I don't think you can put social skills as a reason why somebody isn't going to get a placement.'

An important factor in this change was the recent Covid 19 pandemic, which changed the workplace relations in many companies. After the pandemic most of the relations, with colleagues and with clients, are more digital than personal. This could be potentially a big advantage for people with ASD, who struggle with the social aspect of being in the office environment. According to one participant, a hybrid model of work will open new possibilities for this group of people and can potentially result in hiring more people on the autism spectrum which relates to what Szulc *et al.* (2021) found in their study.

This theme indicates that a full background check should be done before inviting a potential autistic candidate for an interview. Detailed information on medical condition, skillset and specific needs and requirements would help the employer to assess if they are able to amend their workplace to meet those needs, as well as find the best fit for this person in the company. Also, a previous study by Prince (2017) talks about the importance of workplace accommodation and Seitz and Smith (2016) talk about the crucial role of communication and how clear instructions make a difference in performance and productivity of a diverse work environment.

External experts' help essential

The third theme formed around employment support organisations. Most of the participants, when talking about information and support they would need to hire and transition an autistic employee, referred to a third-party organisation, which would be a point of contact for them.

Participant 3: 'if there would be a place to go, whether it as simple as trying to understand what parental leave is, because employee asked about it, we go to a government page to understand what is it, if there would be a place to go, that had all the information relevant to the needs, that would be want you want, you go to the page and if not you have a place to put enquiry into somebody.'

All the employers emphasised that long-term help from employment support provided would be crucial for them when hiring an employee with ASD. They stressed that detailed knowledge on the medical condition of the potential employee and what they can expect in terms of challenges would be very important for them. Several participants described they would expect the external organisation to also give them support with job matching, workplace design, legal advice, and performance issues. This service would be a kind of touch point for them where they could always reach out to and confirm their actions. To illustrate, some employers said:

'It would feel nice to have support for 6 months or longer where we could look for advice when we would need it or maybe through them review the individual's progress and how they are performing, maybe I don't really know.'

'You definitely need to have that support, just for a place where you go and say 'I don't understand that fully, how do we deal with that', I think it's really, really important the support is there. I think the returns will be huge; it has to work for the individual'

One participant gave a great example of this service when their company employed an autistic individual, a person from the employment support company came to inspect the office and explain where the employed autistic person can sit and where they could not due to direct light as it might be disturbing for them.

Moreover, some participants would expect the external expert company to provide training and support for their managers and the rest of employees, to give them more skills to manage and to work in a team with autistic people. To illustrate this, some hiring personnel said:

Participant 2: 'how the management style needs to change, how to communicate with that individual, giving feedback might be different, so we would need to educate ourselves on the HR functions first and then to managers and then potentially to other people within the team who are working with individuals who might have certain ways of working or how they like to communicate.'

Participant 5: 'We would definitely need to educate ourselves how to support them as best as possible, so essential would be working with third-party experts to be able to give us guidance to make their employment with us as enjoyable experience as possible.'

This implicates a great need for third party organisations, employment support providers and other support bodies in the process of increasing employment within the population of autistic people. It is also interesting to see that, according to the participant quoted above, the company should start from educating the HR team and then move to training managers and other employees. These findings align with the previous research of Diener *et al.*, 2020; Riesen and Morgan, 2018; Kocman *et al.*, 2017 and Smith *at al.*, 2004. Those research stresses the importance and huge support employers can get from employment services and external

consultants. The findings from Johnson *et al.* (2020) research also concluded human resource managers should lead the skill development of managers to support people with ASD in a workplace.

Importance of the internal transition process

A fourth theme in the research findings about employers' perspectives on how to increase employment of autistic individuals concentrates around the internal process of integrating autistic employees into a company. The research shows that most of the participants would expect to get help with the internal introduction processes from an external support company. They said they would hope to get instructions, guidelines and constant advice when employing an individual with ASD.

A controversial aspect in this case is the amount of information that should be passed to the manager and the team. According to some participants there should be a system for informing the employees of the fact that there will be a special needs person joining their team. The details of the person's condition should be shared depending on how close they would work with each colleague. To illustrate, one of the participants said:

'General explanation has to come so people are ready to embrace. [...] Some people need to be aware of more details of the disability, what they need to look out for and how they need to act in emergencies. In the inner circle you have people who are fully aware and fully comfortable'.

Another aspect is the onboarding system. A few interviewers mentioned that as part of the induction process a buddy system could work well. This would mean one person from the company who is responsible for training the employee with ASD and for being a contact person for them in any work-related issues. One participant said they would advise to have a buddy system not only during the onboarding process, but through the whole time of the employment. They said:

'you need to have someone shadowing the person you are going to take in, for the first while just to make sure that they settle in well.'

Throughout the interviews over half of the participants mentioned that there is a necessity of changing the internal procedures and policies to include more diversity and inclusion and to update the management style of the managers of neurodiverse teams:

Participant 2: 'We don't always have policies in place. We have one policy, one fit all, for everybody else, which might not be able to serve people of the spectrum. So, we need support in creating policies, for managers and the HR department on how to communicate, what to communicate, how to bring up policies.'

Participant 5: 'Upscaling on our part in terms of making people comfortable in the environment and understanding the challenges they might face so that we understand how do we make things easier for them [...] we would need to flex our style to meet their requirements.'

The importance of implementing diverse policies was also a main outcome of Phillips *et al.* (2019) study.

Another two participants pointed out that in many technical companies, the leaders do not have enough training in how to manage people with different backgrounds.

Participant 2: 'More training on working with people with autism. I think that's where an external provider would be a good help. A lot of companies don't have training on how to deal with people with autism or what kind of support they need to have for them. [...] Definitely the government should provide part of the training.'

Participant 7: 'We would need management trained specifically to appreciate the different approach and perspective of individuals with ASD. [...] Many times, with technical companies, technical leaders tend to become management. This can often impact a team's health, when that technical leader has had no formal 'people' training. We would need to have a management group with a people approach and a group who holds strong value in inclusion and diversity. This is not typical of what you see in the tech industry.'

In some technical companies, the 'people skills' are not present on the management level and as indicated by the participant above, this can become an issue when working and managing employees with ASD. According to this participant communication, between manager and employee and between employee and employee, was mentioned as a crucial skill to achieve team's goals and successful team cooperation. These findings contradict one of the main research projects for this study by Albright *et al.*'s (2020), who talks about the importance of social skills. However, they align with previous research by Johnson *et al.*, 2020 and Hendricks (2010), who say lack of meeting social expectations is not a concern for today's companies.

This theme indicates that some serious internal changes are needed in a company which intends to hire intellectually disabled employees. To ensure a successful and long-term employment background check, onboarding system and inclusive policies and procedures are critical. Support with all these services could be provided by an external employment service company.

Discussion

The main goal of this study was to research employers' view on hiring more autistic people in Irish IT companies. The aim was to explore what support, tools and training they would need to be more open for hiring people from this population. Finally, what skills would help autistic employees to integrate well in a tech workplace was also explored. The outcomes revealed some trends within the IT industry that limit the employment opportunities for autistic people. Although these trends can be found in previous studies (Diener *et al.*, 2020; Riesen and Morgan, 2018) this research explores this theme in the context of Irish technology companies. Those IT workplaces have a significant impact on the future of employment of people with ASD (Schartz *et al.*, 2002).

First, employers expressed their positive attitude towards hiring more autistic employees. They stressed this would have a significant impact on the diversity in their workplaces, also meaning diversity of thinking, ideas, and perspectives, which these individuals bring in. Same positive outlooks were identified in Albright *et al.*'s (2020) study. However, this study also revealed some reservations and concerns on how employing autistic people could negatively impact the workplace. None of these concerns were mentioned by the interviewers in this study. However, they did express lack of knowledge of the spectrum and how it affects people and what challenges this can bring to the workplace. Lack of awareness is related to lack of training on how to employ, manage and work with autistic people. A previous study by Diener *et al.* (2020) came to a similar conclusion, "Coworkers and supervisors of employees with ASD need more training on how to work with this population, and education about the benefits and challenges involved when hiring someone with ASD" (p. 13).

The lack of knowledge was also one of the findings of recent research done by Mothersill *et al.* (2021) and according to their study, knowledge has a direct impact on the attitudes and behaviours towards people with disabilities, including autism. The results of this study align with this as most of the participants were misinformed about mental health by the media. Therefore, this suggests more campaigns concentrated on specific mental health diagnoses to increase knowledge and make people more familiar with this subject. Lindsay *et al.*'s (2019) research also concentrated on the lack of knowledge and awareness of disabilities. According

to Lindsay *et al.* (2019, p.9), "'reaching beyond your comfort zone' involves disability awareness training and gaining knowledge, shared lived experiences, and the business case for hiring people with disabilities."

The results of this study suggest that more accurate information on ASD should be distributed to general public by an official government campaign or by some authorised non-government organisations. A separate target group of those campaigns should be employers and in particular IT companies' employers. A good idea to deliver more practical aspects of employing autistic people could be, as mentioned by one of the research participants, a case study of a successful employment story. The story could give insights from both sides, the autistic person and the employer, and could be a good example of what benefits and challenges there can be expected and how to resolve them. Similar suggestions can be found in the conclusion of Mothersill *et al.*'s (2021) research, where the authors advise future policies and campaigns should describe mental health diagnosis of individual people and concentrate on spreading the knowledge about them to increase its understanding among the Irish population.

An interesting outcome of the research was that a few participants mentioned employing autistic people will give them a huge chance and opportunity, which everyone deserves. This approach has been seen in earlier work of Herr (2001) who elaborates on the sense of purpose and belonging, as well as hope and dignity that employment can give to autistic people.

It is worth mentioning that a few of the participants did refer to benefits of a person with ASD as a 'good story', which could be sold to encourage other businesses to be more open and welcoming to autistic employees. Similar observations have been made in a study by Baker *et al.* (2018) who explain that such narratives may positively change the discriminatory perception of people with disabilities and by showing their outstanding impact increase the employment of individuals with disabilities.

A second trend developed from asking employers about what they would need to employ an individual with ASD and successfully integrate them into a workplace. All the interviewers said they would like to get as many details about the person's condition, their needs, and challenges as possible. They believe the detailed knowledge of the person's requirements and skills would be helpful in integrating them into the workplace and the team. Similar needs were expressed by employers who took part in Albright *et al.*'s (2020) and in Griffiths *et al.*'s (2019) studies. When discussing disclosing an employee's diagnosis, consequences of such a decision need to be mentioned. There are both negative and positive consequences of sharing these

details with a manager and employees as examined by Romualdez *et al.* (2021) and Johnson and Joshi (2015). Another researcher also describes the advantages and disadvantages of the risky decision of disclosure of the information about disability, especially if this is invisible disability (Prince, 2017). In both studies positive consequences mean the managers can adjust their management style and expectations to accommodate the autistic employee's needs. The negative consequences impact the autistic employee, as the disability disclosure can lead to stigma and discrimination against them. This research proves the employers would like to know as many details about an autistic employee as possible and this would have a positive impact on the preparation of the workplace and getting to know the employees' needs.

Together with obtaining individual characteristic information about the potential employee some participants mentioned they would like to understand what type of office accommodations would be most suitable for an employee with ASD, so they could feel comfortable. Some previous research (Patton, 2019; Sundar, 2017) looked deeper into this subject and concluded that it can be a main factor for a successful placement of autistic employees and can have a huge impact on their productivity. Research by Lopez *et at.* (2021) found that only 25% of autistic adults confirmed their workplaces were adjusted according to their needs, also all the research groups in this study reported that this was the main problem and barrier for them.

Another element that the employers pointed out would help them maximize employment outcomes would be job matching. Matching specific skills of people with ASD to their job appeared in many studies as a main result of the research (Nicholas *et al.*, 2019; Moore, McDonald and Bartlett, 2018; Kocman *et al.*, 2017; Smith *et al.*, 2004). According to Nicholas *et al.* (2019) matching skills with the job description is essential for successful long-term employment. Among the benefits are also mutual satisfaction, high productivity, and good performance (Smith *et al.*, 2004). It is important they know where they fit into the company. A suggestion from one of the interviewees was to introduce an employee with ASD to all departments in the company and through gaining a sense of all of them, decide where they would be the best fit.

Most of the research discusses hard skills, as opposed to soft skills. Albright *et al.*'s (2020) study talks about the importance of social skills. Many of the participants in this study said they felt social skills are not as important as they used to be and is likely due to remote work being more frequently accepted in the tech companies as a standard model of working and digitalisation of relations at the workplace. Some valuable employers' suggestions to help with

the low social skills issue included a basic training on the company's culture, values and social behaviours. The training would give simple instructions on how to be a good member of a team. Similar suggestions appeared in Johnson *et al.*'s (2020) study, "Research also shows that mentors have helped to improve social interactions between individuals with and without disabilities" (p. 137). They also concluded that "The qualifications and potential of the employee with ASD have proven to be less of a concern when compared with the ability to meet social expectations and requirements in the work environment" (Johnson *et al.*, 2020, p. 137). Hendricks (2010), a well known researcher in the topic of employment of people with ASD, has also provided similar outcomes.

One more trend covers the importance of employment support providers. Nearly all the employers mentioned that having a third-party expert would be essential for them in deciding on hiring an autistic employee. An external expert would be expected to help with providing medical information, assessing the workplace in terms of any amendments, matching the skills with the jobs, and the general onboarding process. They would preferably be a constant touch point for the company, where they could reach out and get advice anytime. The study by Dreaver et al. (2020) was conducted with four company directors and sixteen line managers and used thematic analysis to code their findings. One of their findings was a strategy of successful employment of persons with ASD through employment support services (Dreaver et al, 2020). Those services would provide job matching support, initial support and training for line managers, regular check in for managers and employees with ASD. They would assist with difficult and unexpected situations. This kind of support would give a lot of confidence and assurance to employers that if they hire an individual with autism, they will constantly have a point of contact to reach out to (Dreaver et al., 2020). A study by Kocman et al. (2017) on a sample of 30 HR managers came to the same conclusion on the importance of active support of external employment services and experts in reducing employers' hesitations towards hiring people with intellectual disabilities. Henry et al.'s (2014) study of 74 participants among private and public employers in the USA stated that employment service providers should cooperate more with the employers and get to know their hiring needs more to match them with the skills of individuals with disabilities and include them in their workplaces.

Another trend in replies to the interview questions, which would contribute to a successful employment of more autistic people in IT companies, was a well thought through and executed onboarding process. According to this research, such an induction process would include some

awareness and management training for managers and awareness training for employees. There are a couple of previous studies which elaborated on the need of awareness training and information campaigns, which should be provided by employment services and external consultants to the managers and to regular employees (Diener *et al.*, 2020; Kocman *et al.*, 2017).

Interestingly one of the participants mentioned that the training should start from the HR department. This argument has previously appeared in Johnson *et al.*'s (2020) study where they identified how HR professionals can support successful implementation of ASD employees using regular activities like training, coaching, mentoring. Johnson *et al.*'s study also suggests there should be a link between the industry and community agencies and educational institutions.

Finally, an important element of an induction process are internal policies, which should reflect staff diversity. A few participants of this research mentioned that they do not believe their internal policies are inclusive and do not consider people with diversities in their processes. The significance of the policies was examined by Griffiths *et al.* (2019) who revealed that companies which have updated policies on hiring, training, and retaining individuals with ASD, employ a higher number of this group of people. This implicates that hiring more autistic people could increase due to implementing comprehensive policies on how to hire and manage this group of employees. In their study on effectiveness of employers' practices Phillips *et al.* (2019) report that the practices are important, as they support new policies to educate hiring personnel on how to employ more people with disabilities.

The practices and policies are crucial for overcoming work barriers. Moreover, the significance of these practices was researched by Gould *et al.* (2020) who emphasise that disability inclusion needs to be included in the policies. The demand for work diversity is constantly increasing and meaningful inclusion of disabled people is what more organisations pay attention to. Gould *et al.* (2020) described four practices companies use to strengthen disability inclusion and one of them is corporate social responsibility (CSR) and the strength of their study is the sample size of 34 companies recognised nationally in the USA for acting accordingly to corporate social responsibility. However, the limitation is a concern, also expressed by participant 1 and participant 5 of this research, that those companies can overemphasise their efforts and follow the actions only to meet social and cultural expectations (Gould *et al.*, 2020). A contradicting finding was presented by Sundar (2017) whose research focused on the analysis of workplace accommodations in 47 studies and showed that the importance of policy changes was

mentioned only by a small percentage of the studies and found that a more important type of accommodation was specialised equipment.

This study brings direct benefits to the employers and can help them gain a better understanding of the population of autistic people and moreover, the benefits of hiring them. By reading this study and gaining a better understanding of challenges related to hiring people with ASD other employers can find some factors that can be implemented to new policies in their organisation. Future employers who are seeking to employ more autistic people could benefit from this research by gaining a deeper understanding of some of the issues that previous employers have encountered. This could be turned into implementing better policies and better addressing these issues in the future. Some employers might seek practical advice on how to introduce more diversity to their workplace and this research can be helpful providing needed information. Future employers can be mindful of these issues and therefore implement policies addressing inclusion issues in their organisations.

It is hoped that the research will benefit the autistic community as well. It is important the community has a voice, and that they can share their experience, hence in future research, autistic people should be the targeted sample group. Interviewing them will give an overview on how they feel about working in IT companies and explore what they would need in terms of a more suitable recruitment process and what their needs are in terms of workplace accommodation. It would be interesting to find out their opinion on what they would need from the employers to be successful in a tech company in Ireland. Similar studies have been done in Sweden (Gustafsson, 2018), Australia (Remington and Pellicano, 2018) and USA (Diener *et al.*, 2020). Another important implication of this study would be that job opportunities for autistic people bring a lot of normality and purpose in their life as Chen *et al.* (2015) states, employment gives this group of people a better quality of life.

Limitations

Although this study found some important reasons why the employment of autistic people is still very low in IT companies across Ireland, there are several limitations to consider. First, the sample of the employers was very small. All participants came from the same geographical area as they were based in the Dublin area. Moreover, not all the interviewees were employers, some were hiring personnel involved in the hiring process. Future research could use a bigger sample and interview more company owners or HR specialists who make direct decisions on the recruitment process.

It must also be noted that most of the participants had no knowledge on autism or working with people with autism. Ideally, for the purpose of this research a short introduction should have been sent to the participants, to give them a general overview of this condition and the challenges of ASD. This knowledge could have brought more practical ideas of what they would need to employ autistic people and what tools and training could be helpful in the transition stage and in the later management stage. Additionally, it is possible that participants who agreed to take part in the study are more open to diversity in the workplace and therefore the perspective can be biased. Despite these limitations, this study is potentially the first to investigate the employers' perspective of hiring more autistic people in technology companies in Ireland and it has identified several areas for future research.

Future research

This study reveals important information around hiring and employment of people with ASD from the perspective of the employers of technology companies in Ireland. They shared their observations on benefits and concerns of hiring autistic people and identified what would help them to prepare their workplaces and staff to hire and integrate an individual with ASD. The needs included training for leaders and employees and implementing practices to promote inclusivity within the workplace. Additional research is needed on how to provide the most effective training to encourage them to hire more autistic people and teach how to manage and cooperate with them. Autistic people are worthy of the same chances of successful employment as any other group of people. Future research should further investigate employment outcomes for this group of disability people. Current research is not accurate as it usually only investigates people who have been employed at some stage (Chen *et al.*, 2015).

The findings provide valuable information on how to improve the employment support system to make it more approachable to autistic people and how to become a more open and welcoming job provider for autistic community. Future research should investigate how to build effective policies and practices to create a more inclusive workplace.

Conclusions and Recommendations

Neurodiversity issues experienced by today's organisations, as well as challenges they create for employers, have been researched by a few studies (Gould *et al.*, 2020; Phillips *et al.*, 2019; Riesen and Morgan, 2018). This study reveals needs and requirements of employers in IT companies in Ireland, which when met would reduce the workplace barriers and help to create a welcoming environment for long-term successful employment of people with ASD. Organisations should support the management in hiring positions to employ these individuals to increase diversity and benefit the companies.

The benefits and positive approach towards employing autistic people came as one of the main findings. However, the same employers also admitted to little knowledge about the condition of ASD and how it can be challenging in a workplace. Therefore, a solution to this issue could be implementation of courses and programs about disabilities to college education. Diversity courses for future leaders and managers would broaden awareness of the workplace challenges people with ASD could experience and moreover, teach them how to manage this group of people. Considering a lot of employees attend developmental courses in their careers, such a course could be added to the list.

Another way to overcome the problem of lack of knowledge about autism could be more work-based experience achieved by a more effective cooperation between education organisations, schools and colleges and companies. College placement and internships could expose autistic people to a real office environment from an early age and make them aware of their needs and requirements in order to be most productive and successful. Opportunity to work with autistic people and gain experience appears to encourage employers to improve their inclusive employment practices and hire more people with ASD (Nicholas *et al.*, 2019). The costs of these courses and trial placements are rather small. The implications can be huge for employers as well as employees. Employers get evidence of competency of autistic individuals in an office environment. The challenge here could be the education institutions, as they usually are less progressive and take a long time to update their education programs.

One of the conclusions of this study is that employers need practical advice on how to employ people with autism. A few of the participants in this study suggested that case studies and sharing good stories of successful employment of an autistic person could be good for eliminating employers' concerns and encouraging them to welcome more people with ASD.

Implication of this research results could have significant advantages for the companies and show them the practical benefits of a neurodiverse workplace and how to solve accruing problems. These stories could be shared with employers through employment support providers and other government and non-government organisations supporting employment of autistic population. The costs of gathering the success stories and testimonials from hiring managers and supervisors would be rather low, however very time consuming and slow to process.

When speaking of external employment service providers, all employers interviewed in this study expressed a big hope that the third-party organisations could be a touch point for them and a first contact in any concerns and emergencies. The hiring personnel would feel much confident to include autistic people in their talent pools and employ them if they knew those services would be available during the recruitment and onboarding process. Therefore, most of the participants mentioned that they would like to have a standby relation with them and access to support when needed. The implementation of support delivered by employment assistance companies could increase the amount of autistic people hired by IT companies in Ireland.

One of the research findings was the positive result of matching specific skills of autistic workers with their position in the company. Job matching is a crucial tool to successful implementation of autistic employees into the workplace. This relates mostly to practical skills. When discussing social skills, employers presented a less demanding attitude towards them. One aspect was to simply admit that this group of people does not have the social skills, on another hand, there were a few voices that say they are not that necessary anymore. Workplaces have changed after the Covid 19 pandemic and a lot of employees never came back to work in the office, or they work based on different remote models of work. Working remotely limits the social interactions between the employees and also between employees and customers (Szulc, *et al.*, 2021). This can bring potential benefits and advantages to people with ASD, as one of the biggest barriers for them was the social part of the job and establishing good office relationships.

One of the conclusions of this study is the importance of diversity policies at work. However, there are divided opinions on implementing diversity policies and other practices which support neurodiversity. Some research shows that they are not important to the changes of perception of disability and there is still a huge research gap on inclusive practices, organisation culture and workplace practices (Gould *et al.*, 2020). Very often they are far from the reality of the office and contain just general guidance, separated from the practical advice. Other research

says it is important to have those policies in the companies and that they influence the change to the awareness of disability in a workplace and help to establish more inclusive practices (Phillips *et al.*, 2019). The findings of this study indicated the HR departments should drive the change. It was recommended they get training on how to work with people with intellectual disabilities and how to manage them. The greatest implications of this conclusion would be for policy makers. They should conduct more research on disability inclusion and practices on how to successfully overcome the barriers and produce comprehensive policies for Irish employers. The implications are also significant to organisations trying to introduce more diversity into their teams. The costs of implementing new policies depends on the recommended practices, however, in previous research it was stated that the extra costs of workplace accommodation to fit autistic people are non or low (Scott *et al.*, 2017).

The overall recommendations for IT companies in Ireland to employ more people with autism would be to start implementing diverse policies to make all employees aware that the company is ready to include disabled people on their team. The costs of the policies implementations would be rather low. The policy introduction should be combined with a general training for all employees and supervisors to shed light on the condition of this spectrum disorder, challenges which may appear in work situations and how to react to those. This should be followed by a specially designed onboarding process, which should be based on a buddy system. The person should be appointed from the team and willing to be a first point of contact to the autistic employee in any work issues to help them keep their job. The buddy could change every 6 months; however, it is important that the person would be trained and willing to take on this role. The HR department should lead the role of the main implementer and supporter of those changes. The training could be done by the employment support provider as part of a recruitment program.

It would be recommended for any IT company in Ireland to investigate in cooperation with colleges and organisations which work with autistic people and arrange internships or short-term work placements. Gaining experience would be a valuable benefit for both sides. The internships are usually free of charge or the costs of wages are at the minimum rate per hour. A challenge could be to find and train internally employees who would act as buddies and support the interns and employees in the integration process. Moreover, cooperation with third party companies who assist with job-matching, recruitment, transition, onboarding, and short-term and long-term support would also be very beneficial, especially if a company only starts to employ autistic employees. The cost of such ongoing support could be a challenge for some

companies, as they can continue during the whole employment time. However, they can be covered by government financial support (Citizens Information, 2022; Specialisterne, 2020). Another recommendation would be to pay attention to clear communication regarding physical needs of the autistic employees and the expectations of the productivity and performance requirements of the company. The study has discovered that an optimal way to a successful placement is to provide a workplace setting that matches the skills of the autistic employees.

There is a general misconception about the yearly costs of employing an autistic person. In fact, Scott et. al. (2017) found the opposite and concluded that hiring autistic people does not generate extra costs in comparison with hiring neurotypical employees. No significant differences were found in costs of manager or workplace training costs. Moreover, there are more and more government grants available for Irish employers (Citizens Information, 2022; Specialisterne, 2020).

This approach represents a mutually beneficial response to how to employ more autistic people with the result supporting best practices for including people with ASD into jobs that match their skills and the employers' expectations. The biggest benefit for the companies should be meeting the social responsibility requirements and the fact that by giving autistic individuals meaningful jobs, they give them hope and chance and help them to become independent members of society. Inclusion depends on the level of feeling of belonging and being unique and different as some high values (Patton, 2018).

Personal learning statement: To complete this project more effectively I would have started it earlier to have more time to approach more technical companies. Most of the tech companies I have contacted didn't reply. I found it very challenging that big IT companies, with more than 250 employees, which should have implemented inclusion policies, were very reluctant to take part in the research. The process of reaching the right person was long and in the end I was left with no reply. All the participants I managed to interview were contacted through personal relations and recommendations. In the future to get more comprehensive replies to the questionnaire I would have sent a short presentation about the ASD to the participants prior to the interview. I believe it would give them a better idea of the benefits and challenges they could face when employing autistic people, as some of the participants had no knowledge about the ASD condition at all. Moreover, I would have changed a few questions in the questionnaire, as they seem to be too similar and maybe a bit confusing for the participants.

This project was a huge learning process and I found it very interesting. Moreover, it made me aware of the significant and very urgent problem the employers must face to integrate the population of autistic people into the workplace. With the increasing shortage of workers in the IT sector and the talents and benefits neurodiversity can bring into the workplace, there must be more support available for employers to help them with recruitment, employment and transition process of the people with ASD. By completing the dissertation, I am considering moving my career in HR towards neurodiversity employment support direction. I believe it is very important to include this part of our populations in today's labour market.

The existing issue of invisible disability at workplaces made me conscious of how important it is to introduce policies and practices including neurodiversity. Introduction of the policies needs to be combined with basic training for all employees to spread awareness and knowledge about neurodiversity, the different conditions and how to work and communicate with autistic people and how to manage them.

References:

Albright, J., Kulok S. and Scarpa, A. (2020) 'A qualitative analysis of employer perspectives on the hiring and employment of adults with autism spectrum disorder', *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 53(2), pp. 167-182. Education Source. doi. 10.3233/JVR-201094.

Anderson, C., Butt, C. and Sarsony, C. (2021) 'Young adults on the autism spectrum and early employment-related experiences: Aspirations and obstacles', *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 51(1), pp. 88-105, Education Source. doi: 10.1007/s10803-020-04513-4.

Austin R. D. and Pisano G. P. (2017) 'Neurodiversity as a competitive advantage: Why you should embrace it in your workforce', *Harvard Business Review*, 95(3), pp. 96-103. Available at:

https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db=edsgao &AN=edsgcl.491496324&site=eds-live&scope=site&custid=ncirlib [Accessed 25 May 2022].

AsIAm and IrishJobs.ie (2021) *Autism in the workplace: Creating opportunity for autistic people.* Available at: https://www.irishjobs.ie/recruiters/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/AsIAm-IrishJobs.ie-Autism-in-the-Workplace-Report_April-2021-FINAL.pdf [Accessed 12 January 2022].

Baker, P. M. A., Linden, M. A., LaForce, S. S., Rutledge, J. and Goughnour, K. P. (2018) 'Barriers to employment participation of individuals with disabilities: Addressing the impact of employer (mis)perception and policy', *American Behavioral Scientist*, 62(5), pp. 657–675, SAGE Journals. doi:10.1177/0002764218768868.

Banks, J., Grotti. R., Fahey, É. and Watson D. (2018) *Disability and discrimination in Ireland: Evidence from the QNHS Equality Modules 2004, 2010, 2014*. Available at: https://www.ihrec.ie/app/uploads/2018/09/Disability-and-Discrimination.pdf [Accessed 12 January 2022].

Baska, M. (2019) 'Businesses 'feel free to discriminate' because equality law is not being enforced', *People Management*, 30 July. Available at:

https://www.peoplemanagement.co.uk/news/articles/businesses-feel-free-to-

discriminate#_ga=2.157329592.302225432.1642467754-2012296634.1641855052
[Accessed 12 January 2022].

Bird, N. and Flint, R. (2019) 'Autism: People face 'daily discrimination' in work', *BBC News*, 6 September. Available at: https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-wales-49523283 [Accessed 14 January 2022].

Blume, H. (1998) 'Neurodiversity. On the neurological underpinnings of geekdom', *The Atlantic*, September. Available at:

https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/1998/09/neurodiversity/305909/ [Accessed 10 January 2022].

Booth, J. (2016) Autism equality in the workplace. Removing barriers and challenging discrimination. Philadelphia: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.

Bowman, A. (2020) 'What we know about employers' perspectives on successfully integrating adults with autism spectrum disorders in the workplace', *International Journal of Psychiatry Research*, 3(31), pp. 1-4, ResearchGate. doi: 10.33425/2641-4317.1054.

Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2006) 'Using thematic analysis in psychology', *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), pp. 77-101, Academic Search Complete. doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa.

Brinzea, V. M. (2019) 'Encouraging neurodiversity in the evolving workforce – the next frontier to a diverse workplace', 18(3), pp. 13-25, DOAJ. Available at: https://doaj.org/article/5b3fe45869c541b381c683411ff6d82d [Accessed 11 January 2022].

Bross, L. A., Patry, M. B., Leko, M. and Travers, J.C. (2021) 'Barriers to competitive integrated employment of young adults with autism spectrum disorder', *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 56(4), pp. 394–408, Education Source. Available at:

https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db=eue&A
N=153520061&site=eds-live&scope=site&custid=ncirlib [Accessed 12 July 2022].

Buescher, A. V. S., Cidav, Z., Knapp, M. and Mandell, D. S. (2014) 'Costs of autism spectrum disorders in the United Kingdom and the United States', JAMA Pediatrics, 168(8), pp. 721-8. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2014.210.

Bury, S. M., Flower, R. L., Zulla, R., Nicholas, D. B. and Hedley, D. (2021) 'Workplace social challenges experienced by employees on the autism spectrum: An international

exploratory study examining employee and supervisor perspectives', *Journal of Autism & Developmental Disorders*, 51(5), pp. 1614-1627, Education Source. doi. 10.1007/s10803-020-04662-6.

CIPD (2018) Neurodiversity at work. Available at:

https://www.cipd.ie/Images/neurodiversity-at-work_2018_tcm21-37852.pdf [Accessed 10 January 2022].

CIPD (2019) *Stress, overwork and poor work-life balance undermine UK job quality*. Available at: https://www.cipd.co.uk/about/media/press/poor-work-life-balance#gref [Accessed 5 May 2022].

Citizens Information (2022) *Wage Subsidy Scheme for people with disabilities*. Available at: https://www.citizensinformation.ie/en/employment/employment_and_disability/grant_aid_scheme for employers with disabled staff.html [Accessed 21 July 2022].

Chen, J. L., Leader, G., Sung, C. and Leahy, M. (2015) 'Trends in employment for individuals with autism spectrum disorder: A review of the research literature', *Review Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 2, pp. 115-127, Springer Link. doi: 10.1007/s40489-014-0041-6.

Cook, B. (2020) 'It's not all about IT...breaking the stigma in employment choices for autistic and neurodiverse people', *Xceptional*, 14 July. Available at: https://xceptional.io/employees/not-itbreaking-stigma-employment-choices-autistic-neurodivergent-people/ [Accessed 15 January 2022].

Cusack, J. (2021) 'Autistic people still face highest rates of unemployment of all disabled groups', *Autistica*, 18 February. Available at: https://www.autistica.org.uk/news/autistic-people-highest-unemployment-rates [Accessed 9 January 2022].

den Houting, J. (2019) 'Neurodiversity: An insider's perspective', *Autism*, 23(2), pp. 271-273, SAGE Journals. doi: 10.1177/1362361318820762.

Development Dimensions International (DDI) (2021) *Global leadership forecast*. Available at: https://www.ddiworld.com/global-leadership-forecast-

2021?utm_source=google&utm_medium=display&utm_campaign=glf&utm_content=laun&gclid=EAIaIQobChMIkZ-ui4a09QIVM2UVCB22_Q6qEAEYASAAEgKfVvD_BwE [Accessed 11 January 2022].

Diener, M. L., Wright, C. A., Taylor, C., D'Astous V. and Lasrich, L. (2020) 'Dual perspectives in autism spectrum disorders and employment: Toward a better fit in the workplace', *Work*, 67(1), pp. 223-237, Business Source Ultimate. doi: 10.3233/WOR-203268.

Dreaver, J., Thompson, C., Girdler, S., Adolfsson M., Black M. H. and Falkmer, M. (2020) 'Success factors enabling employment for adults on the autism spectrum from employers', *Perspective Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 50(5), pp.1657–1667, Education Source. doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-03923-3.

Eurobarometer (2019) *Discrimination in the European Union*. Available at: https://europa.eu/eurobarometer/surveys/detail/2251 [Accessed 11 January 2022].

European Economic and Social Committee (2017) *People with autism face prejudice and barriers on the labour market*. Available at: https://www.eesc.europa.eu/en/news-media/news/people-autism-face-prejudice-and-barriers-labour-market [Accessed 13 January 2022].

Faragher, J. (2017) 'Beyond bias', *People Management*, 27 April. Available at: https://www.peoplemanagement.co.uk/long-reads/articles/beyond-bias#_ga=2.154594746.302225432.1642467754-2012296634.1641855052 [Accessed 16 January 2022].

Gould, R., Harris, S. P., Mullin, C. and Jones R. (2020) 'Disability, diversity, and corporate social responsibility: Learning from recognized leaders in inclusion', *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 52(1), pp. 29–42, Education Source. doi:10.3233/JVR-191058.

Griffiths, A. J., Hurley-Hanson, A., Giannantonio, C. M., Mathur, S. K., Hyde, K. and Linstead E. (2019) 'Developing employment environments where individuals with ASD thrive: Using machine learning to explore employer policies and practices', *Brain Science*, 10(9), pp. 632-654, Gail Academic OneFile. doi:10.3390/brainsci10090632.

Gustafsson J., Peralta, J. and Danermark, B. (2018) 'Supported employment and social inclusion – experiences of workers with disabilities in wage subsidized employment in Sweden', *Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research*, 20(1), pp. 26–36, Gale Academic OneFile. doi.org/10.16993/sjdr.36.

Haegele, J. A. and Hodge S. (2016) 'Disability discourse: Overview and critiques of the medical and social models', *Quest*, 68(2), pp. 193-206, Taylor & Francis Online. doi: 10.1080/00336297.2016.1143849.

Heasman, B., Livesey, A., Walker, A., Pellicano, E. and Remington, A. (2020) *DARE report on adjustments*. Available at: https://dareuk.org/dare-adjustments-toolkit [Accessed 15 January 2022].

Hedley, D., Spoor, J. R., Cai, R. Y., Uljarevic, M., Bury, S., Gal, E., Moss, S., Richdale, A., Bartram, T. and Dissanayake C. (2021) 'Supportive employment practices: Perspectives of autistic employees', *Advances in Autism*, 7(1), pp. 28-40, Emerald Insight. doi: 10.1108/AIA-09-2019-0029.

Hedley, D., Uljarević, M., Cameron, L., Halder, S., Richdale, A. and Dissanayake, C. (2017) 'Employment programmes and interventions targeting adults with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review of the literature', *Autism: The International Journal of Research and Practice*, 21(8), pp. 929–941, MEDLINE. doi.10.1177/1362361316661855.

Hendricks, D. (2010) 'Employment and adults with autism spectrum disorder: challenges and strategies for success', *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 32(2), pp.125-134, Education Source. doi: 10.3233/JVR-2010-0502.

Henry, A. D., Petkauskos, K., Stanislawzyk, J. and Jay Vogt, J. (2014) 'Employer-recommended strategies to increase opportunities for people with disabilities', *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 41(3), pp. 237–248, Education Source. doi:10.3233/JVR-140716.

Hensel, W. F. (2017) 'People with autism spectrum disorder in the workplace: An expanding legal frontier', *Harvard Civil Rights - Civil Liberties Law Review*, 52(1), pp. 73-102, Business Source Ultimate. Available at:

https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db=bsu&A N=121605527&site=eds-live&scope=site&custid=ncirlib [Accessed 12 July 2022].

Herr, E. L. (2001) 'Career development and its practice: A historical perspective', *The Career Development Quarterly*, 49(3), pp. 196–211, Business Source Ultimate. doi. 10.1002/j.2161-0045.2001.tb00562.

Hidegh, A. L. and Csillag, S. (2013) 'Toward 'mental accessibility': Changing the mental obstacles that future human resource management practitioners have about the employment

of people with disabilities', *Human Resource Development International*, 16(1), pp. 22–39, Business Source Ultimate. doi. 10.1080/13678868.2012.741793.

Holland, R. (2016) 'The benefits of recruiting employees with autism spectrum disorder', *Forbes*, 11 July. Available at:

https://www.forbes.com/sites/hbsworkingknowledge/2016/07/11/the-benefits-of-recruiting-employees-with-autism-spectrum-disorder/?sh=6291cf5b40a2 [Accessed 6 January 2022].

Hyde, K., Griffiths, A-J., Giannantonio, C. M., Hurley-Hanson, A. E., Linstead, E. (2018) 'Predicting employer recruitment of individuals with autism spectrum disorders with decision trees', 17th IEEE International Conference on Machine Learning and Applications, pp. 1366-1370. doi:10.1109/ICMLA.2018.00222.

Johnson, T. D. and Joshi, A. (2015) 'Dark clouds or silver linings? A stigma threat perspective on the implications of an autism diagnosis for workplace well-being', *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101(3), pp. 430-449, APA PsycArticles. doi.org/10.1037/apl0000058.

Johnson, K. R., Ennis-Cole, D. and Bonhamgregory M. (2020) 'Workplace Success Strategies for Employees With Autism Spectrum Disorder: A New Frontier for Human Resource Development', *Human Resource Development Review*, 19(2), pp. 122–151, SAGE. doi: 10.1177/1534484320905910.

Keogh, O. (2017) 'Why IT companies are hiring employees on the autism spectrum', *The Irish Times*, 3 November. Available at: https://www.irishtimes.com/business/work/why-it-companies-are-hiring-employees-on-the-autism-spectrum-1.3276469 [Accessed 16 January 2022].

Kocman, A., Fischer, L. and Weber, G. (2018) 'The employers' perspective on barriers and facilitators to employment of people with intellectual disability: A differential mixed-method approach', *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*, 31(1), pp. 120–131, Education Source. doi.org/10.1111/jar.12375.

Knapp M., Romeo, R. and Beecham, J. (2009) 'Economic cost of autism in the UK', *Autism*, 13(3), pp. 317-336, SAGE Journals. doi: 10.1177/1362361309104246.

Li, L. (2019) Celebrating neuro-diversity in Irish workplace, enabling support practices and disabling barriers. BA dissertation. Dublin Business School. Available at https://esource.dbs.ie/handle/10788/3896 [Accessed 8 January 2022].

Lindsay, S., Leck, J., Shen, W., Cagliostro, E. and Stinson, J. (2019) 'A framework for developing employer's disability confidence', *Equality, Diversity and Inclusion: An international Journal*, Emerald Insight, 38 (1), pp. 40 – 55. doi: 10.1108/EDI-05-2018-0085.

Lopez, B., Kargas, N., Udell, J., Rubin, T., Burgess, L., Dew, D., McDonald, I., O'Brien, A. and Templeton-Mepstead K. (2021) 'Evaluation of the ACE employment programme: Helping employers to make tailored adjustments for their autistic employees', *Advances in Autism*, 7(1), pp. 3-15, Emerald Insight. doi: 10.1108/AIA-11-2019-0038.

Maguire, M. and Delahunt, B. (2017) 'Doing a thematic analysis: A practical, step-by-step guide for learning and teaching scholars', *All Ireland Journal of Higher Education*, 9(3), pp. 1-14. Available at: http://ojs.aishe.org/index.php/aishe-j/article/view/335 [Accessed 12 January 2022].

Maras, K., Norris, J. E., Nicholson, J., Heasman, B., Remington, A. and Crane, L. (2021) 'Ameliorating the disadvantage for autistic job seekers: An initial evaluation of adapted employment interview questions', *Autism*, 25(4), pp. 1060–1075, MEDLINE. doi: 10.1177/1362361320981319.

Markel, K.S. and Elia, B. (2016) 'How human resource management can best support employees with autism: Future directions for research and practice', *Journal of Business and Management*, 22 (1), pp. 71-85. Available at:

http://gebrc.nccu.edu.tw/JBM/pdf/volume/2201/JBM-2201-04-full.pdf [Accessed 12 July 2022].

Moore, K., McDonald, P. and Bartlett, J. (2018) 'Emerging trends affecting future employment opportunities for people with intellectual disability: The case of a large retail organisation', *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 43(3), pp. 328–338, Education Source. doi: 10.3109/13668250.2017.1379250.

Mothersill, D., Loughnane, G., Grasso, G. and Hargreaves, A. (2021) 'Knowledge, attitudes, and behaviours towards schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and autism: A pilot study', Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine, 3, p.1-7. doi: 10.1017/ipm.2021.81.

National Autistic Society (2021) *New shocking data highlights the autism employment gap*. Available at: https://www.autism.org.uk/what-we-do/news/new-data-on-the-autism-employment-gap [Accessed 5 January 2022].

National Autistic Society (2022) *Employing autistic people – A guide for employers*. Available at: https://www.autism.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/topics/employems/employing-autistic-people/employers [Accessed at 13 January 2022].

National Disability Authority (NDA) (2022) Assisting people with autism. Guidance for line managers and HR professionals. Available at:

https://nda.ie/publications/employment/employment-publications/assisting-people-with-autism-in-employment-guidance-for-line-managers-and-hr-professionals.html [Accessed 16 January 2022].

Nicholas, D., Mitchell, W., Zulla, R. and Dudley, C. (2019) 'Perspectives of employers about hiring individuals with autism spectrum disorder: Evaluating a cohort of employers engaged in a job-readiness initiative', *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 50(3), pp.353–364, Education Source. doi: 10.3233/JVR-191018.

Miley, I. (2019) 'Autism at Work scheme aims to boost employment', *RTE News*, 30 May. Available at: https://www.rte.ie/news/2019/0530/1052615-autism-at-work/ [Accessed 9 January 2022].

Morris, M. R., Begel, A. and Wiedermann, B. (2015) 'Understanding the challenges faced by neurodiverse software engineering employees: Towards a more inclusive and productive technical workforce', in *Proceedings of the 17th International ACM SIGACCESS Conference on Computers & Accessibility*. Lisbon, Portugal, 26-28 October 2015, pp.173-184, ACM Digital Library. doi: 10.1145/2700648.2809841.

O'Connor, C. and Joffe, H. (2020), 'Intercoder reliability in qualitative research: debates and practical guidelines', *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19, pp. 1-13, Academic Search Complete. doi: 10.1177/1609406919899220.

O'Sullivan M., Casey C., Flanagan, N. and Fanagan S. (2020) *NASS Autism Supplementary Report*. Available at:

https://www.hrb.ie/fileadmin/2. Plugin_related_files/Publications/2021_publications/NASS/Supplementary_Reports/NASS_2020_Autism_supplementary_report.pdf [Accessed 10 January 2022].

Office for National Statistics (2021) *Outcomes for disable people in the UK: 2020.* Available at:

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/disability/articles/outcomesfordisabledpeopleintheuk/2020#employment [Accessed 12 July 2022].

Patton, E. (2019) 'Autism, attributions and accommodations: Overcoming barriers and integrating a neurodiverse workforce', *Personnel Review*, 48(4), pp. 915-934, Emerald Insight. doi: 10.1108/PR-04-2018-0116.

Phillips, K. G., Houtenvillea, A. J., O'Neill, J. and Katz, E. (2019) 'The effectiveness of employer practices to recruit, hire, and retain employees with disabilities: Supervisor perspectives', *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 51(3), pp. 339–353, Education Source. doi:10.3233/JVR-191050.

Prince, M. J. (2017) 'Persons with invisible disabilities and workplace accommodation: Findings from a scoping literature review', *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 46(1), pp. 75–86, Education Source. doi:10.3233/JVR-160844.

Rashid, M., Thompson-Hodgetts, S. and Nicholas D. (2018) 'Building employers' capacity to support vocational opportunities for adults with developmental disabilities: A synthesis review of grey literature', *Journal on Developmental Disabilities*, 23(3), pp. 32-45, Academic Search Complete. Available at:

https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db=a9h&A N=133658321&site=eds-live&scope=site&custid=ncirlib [Accessed 14 May 2022].

Remington, A. and Pellicano, E. 'Sometimes you just need someone to take a chance on you': An internship programme for autistic graduates at Deutsche Bank, UK', *Journal of Management and Organization*, 25(4), pp. 516–534, Business Source Ultimate. doi:10.1017/jmo.2018.66 534.

Riesen, T. and Morgan, R. L. (2018) 'Employer views of customized employment: A focus group analysis', *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 49(1), pp. 33–44, Education Source. doi:10.3233/JVR-180952.

Romualdez, A. M., Walker, Z. and Remington, A. (2021) "Autistic adults' experiences of diagnostic disclosure in the workplace: Decision-making and factors associated with outcomes', *Autism & Developmental Language Impairments*, 6, pp. 1–12, DOAJ. doi:10.1177/23969415211022955.

Schartz, K., Schartz, H. A. and Blanck, P. (2002) 'Employment of persons with disabilities in information technology jobs: Literature review for "IT Works", *Behavioral Sciences and the Law*, 20(6), pp. 637–657, Psychology and Behavioral Sciences Collection. doi: 10.1002/bsl.510.

Scott, M., Jacob, A. and Hendrie, D., Parsons, R., Girdler, S. and Falkmer, T. and Falkmer, M. (2017) 'Employers' perception of the costs and the benefits of hiring individuals with autism spectrum disorder in open employment in Australia'. *PLoS One.* 12(5). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0177607.

Seitz S. R., Smith S. A. (2016) 'Working toward neurodiversity: How organizations and leaders can accommodate for autism spectrum disorder', *Journal of Business and Management*, 22(1), pp. 135-152. Available at:

https://www.chapman.edu/business/_files/journals-and-essays/jbm-editions/jbm-vol-22-no-1-autism-in-the-workplace.pdf [Accessed 15 January 2022].

Smith, K., Webber, L., Graffam, J. and Wilson, C. (2004) 'Employer satisfaction, job-match and future hiring intentions for employees with a disability', *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 21(3), pp. 165–173, Education Source. Available at:

https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db=eue&A

N=16012312&site=eds-live&scope=site&custid=ncirlib [Accessed 12 July 2022].

Scott, M., Jacob, A., Hendrie, D., Parsons, R., Girdler, S. and Falkmer, T. (2017) 'Employers' perception of the costs and the benefits of hiring individuals with autism spectrum disorder in open employment in Australia', *PLoS ONE*, 12(5), pp. 1-16, Academic Search Complete. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0177607.

Shahid, N. and Zahid, G. (2021) 'Exploration of HR Managers Perspectives in Hiring and Retaining Practices of People with Physical Disabilities', *Pertanika Journals Social Sciences* & Humanities, 29 (2), pp. 1071-1090. doi:10.47836/pjssh.29.2.18.

Sparrow, M. (2018) 'Why is the autistic unemployment rate so high?', *Thinking Autism Guide*, 26 February. Available at: http://www.thinkingautismguide.com/2018/02/why-is-autistic-unemployment-rate-so.html [Accessed 16 January 2022].

Specialisterne (2020) *ESF Ability Programme Support*. Available at: www.specialisterne.ie/ability-funding. [Accessed 21 July 2022].

Spoor, J. R., Bury, S. and Hedley, D. (2021) 'Non-autistic employees' perspectives on the implementation of an autism employment program', *Autism: International Journal of Research and Practice*, 25(8), pp. 2177-2188, MEDLINE. doi: 10.1177/13623613211012880.

Stedman, G. (2021) 'Report reveals employment barriers for autistic people', *RTE News*, 30 March. Available at: https://www.rte.ie/news/business/2021/0329/1206879-report-reveals-employment-barriers-for-autistic-people/ [Accessed 17 January 2022].

Sundar, V. (2017) 'Operationalizing workplace accommodations for individuals with disabilities: A scoping review', *Work*, 56(1), pp. 135-155, Business Source Ultimate. doi. 10.3233/WOR-162472.

Szulc, J. M., McGregor, F-L. and Cakir, E. (2021) 'Neurodiversity and remote work in times of crisis: Lessons for HR', *Personnel Review*. Emerald. doi: 10.1108/PR-06-2021-0469.

Tracey, A. (2020) How could Ireland improve their autism unemployment rate?: An Analysis of how specialist supported employment programmes, autism recruitment consultancies and government legislation worldwide are addressing employment challenges for people on the autism spectrum. BA dissertation. Dublin: National College of Ireland. Available at: http://norma.ncirl.ie/4886/ [Accessed 6 January 2022].

Westover, J. H., Hughes, K. and Cardon, T. (2018) 'Autism in the workplace today: a literature review and examination of five autism programs', *The International Journal of Interdisciplinary Organizational Studies*,13(3/4), pp. 1-13, Business Source Ultimate. doi: 10.18848/2324-7649/CGP/v13i02/1-13.

Whelpley, C. E. and Perrault, E. (2020) 'Autism at work: How internal and external factors influence employee outcomes and firm performance', *Journal of General Management*, 46(3), pp. 210-219, Business Source Ultimate. doi: 10.1177/0306307020961987.

Wong, P. S., Donelly, M., Neck, P. A. and Boyd, B. (2018) 'Positive autism: Investigation of workplace characteristics leading to a strengths-based approach to employment of people with autism', *Review of International Comparative Management*, 19(1), pp.15-30, Business Source Ultimate. doi: 10.24818/rmci.2018.1.15.

Appendix

Interview questions:

- 1. Can you think of any benefits there might be to hiring an individual with ASD? (These can be unique strengths the employee might have, or secondary benefits associated with being an inclusive business.)
- 2. Would you currently have any reservations or concerns about hiring an individual with ASD? If so, please describe.
- 3. What kind of information regarding ASD and how it can affect employees would be helpful to you if you were considering hiring an employee who has ASD?
- 4. What kind of training handling the transition of an employee with ASD into the workplace would be most helpful?
- 5. In what capacity would you feel most comfortable working with an employment support provider?
- -Some options would include a representative simply introducing you to a potential employee,
- -a provider who helped a new employee transition into the workplace,
- -and/or a provider who remained in contact with your workplace long-term to provide information and support.
- 6. What support do you feel you would need to transition an individual with ASD into your workplace in the short-term?
- 7. What support do you feel you would need to transition an autistic individual into your workplace in the long-term, so that the individual could potentially build a long-term career?
- 8. In your opinion, what are the most important practical skills an individual should have if they want to get a job/begin a career in your field, and how can those be gained?
- 9. In your opinion, what kind of social skills are most important and in what context(s) should individuals be prepared to use those skills in mixed neurodiverse workplace?